ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KERWIN PARKER,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2009-147266

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in instructing the jury that the use of a deadly weapon implied malice in connection with the assault and battery with intent to kill charge given at trial because this instruction was confusing and prejudicial in light of the submission of evidence that clearly reduced, mitigated, excused or justified appellant's actions in the case

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Kerwin Parker was convicted per jury trial of assault and battery with intent to kill and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime per a jury trial held during the September 2009 term of the Lexington County General Sessions Court before Judge Robin B. Stilwell. Appellant received an aggregate twenty-year prison term at his sentencing hearing held during the October 2009 term of the Lexington County General Sessions Court. Appellant was represented by Jack Duncan at his trial and sentencing proceedings.

Appellant appealed. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in instructing the jury that the use of a deadly weapon implied malice in connection with the assault and battery with intent to kill charge given at trial because this instruction was confusing and prejudicial in light of the submission of evidence that clearly reduced, mitigated, excused or justified appellant's actions in the case.

Appellant and codefendant Curtis Johnson were tried together for charges emanating from a shoot-out that occurred on November 20, 2006. Based on the evidence presented at trial, it appeared as though appellant and his brother Curtis Johnson went to Isaac Wilson's apartment on that night to discuss and/or settle a few matters: one of which was Isaac Wilson's and Walter Gadson's alleged attack on Curtis Johnson, and another was Curtis Johnson's ex-girlfriend's involvement with Isaac Wilson. Sentencing Transcript p. 23, lines 5-10. A melee between these men ensued after appellant and Curtis Johnson arrived at Isaac Wilson's residence. The men who participated in the incident were Isaac Wilson, Walter Gadson, AJ Wilson, appellant, and Johnson. After the gunfire ceased, Isaac Wilson was fatally shot, Walter Gadson was injured by a vehicle, and AJ Wilson was shot, but not killed.

At trial, Walter Gadson testified that while he, Isaac Wilson, and Johnson were all stopped at a traffic light at Monticello Road on November 20, 2006, a verbal and physical altercation erupted where he (Gadson) and Isaac Wilson, both of whom were roommates, confronted Curtis Johnson because Johnson had been threatening Isaac Wilson since he (Isaac Wilson) had become involved with his (Johnson's) ex-girlfriend Rebecca Fleming. Gadson stated that he and Isaac Wilson struck Johnson and Johnson yelled "y'all gonna get y'all's." Then, later on that evening when Gadson and Isaac Wilson arrived at their apartment, Johnson and his brother Kerwin Parker (appellant) appeared in an SUV at their place. Gadson stated that he and Isaac Wilson went to the

patio to investigate. Following the shoot-out that occurred thereafter, Isaac Wilson was shot dead, and AJ Wilson, who was also present at the scene, was shot, but lived, and Gadson sustained injuries after having been struck by the SUV. Gadson stated that Isaac Wilson was in possession of a shotgun, but that he (Gadson) took the gun from Isaac Wilson. Gadson explained that around the same time that he was struck by the vehicle, he saw Johnson (who drove the SUV) exit the vehicle and noted that Johnson was armed with a pistol. Immediately thereafter, Gadson stated that he heard gunshots being fired. R. 86, l. 4-p. 117, l. 22.

AJ Wilson testified that he had been living with Isaac Wilson (who was his cousin) and was present on the scene when the events in question occurred. AJ Wilson added that he walked outside onto the patio with Isaac Wilson and Gadson when Johnson and appellant arrived. AJ Wilson stated that he did not see appellant with a gun, but nonetheless yelled that appellant had a gun and then ran back inside the apartment. AJ Wilson added that when he heard gunshots being fired, he came back outside the apartment, and that it was at that point when appellant pointed a gun at him and shot him. AJ Wilson stated that he also saw Johnson standing over Isaac Wilson in the kitchen. R. 146, l. 1-p. 163, l. 24.

Amy Flemming, who lived with Gadson and Isaac Wilson, testified that she heard gunshots on the night in question and stated that she heard Isaac Wilson declare that he had been shot after Johnson and appellant made their way to the apartment. Also, Flemming added that she heard Johnson accuse Isaac Wilson of sleeping with his (Johnson's) girlfriend Rebecca Flemming. Amy Flemming stated that she saw both appellant and Isaac Wilson with guns. R. 30, l. 9-p. 40, l. 4.

Rebecca Flemming testified that in November, 2006, she and Johnson were no longer together and that she had started spending time with Isaac Wilson. Rebecca was present at Isaac Wilson's apartment when the shootings in question took place. Rebecca stated that AJ Wilson,

Gadson, and Isaac Wilson, who was armed with a shotgun, all went outside the apartment when Johnson and appellant arrived there. Rebecca Flemming added that she saw someone come up to the patio and shoot, and that she saw someone flying in the air after the SUV drove up, and that she saw Isaac get shot and fall down in the kitchen while Johnson was in the kitchen. R. 53, l. 16-p. 67, l. 5.

Appellant did not testify in his defense at trial, but co-defendant Curtis Johnson testified at trial. Johnson explained that he was assaulted by Gadson and Isaac Wilson on Moticello Road on the night in question and that shortly thereafter, he and appellant went to Isaac Wilson's residence to try and talk peacefully. However, when he and appellant arrived, they saw three armed men appear outside the apartment, and they heard Isaac Wilson threatening to shoot them. Johnson stated that appellant exited the vehicle first, and that he exited after he drove the SUV up to the point where he saw guns pointed at appellant. R. 539, l. 2-p. 579, l. 23. See Reconstruction Hearing R. 801, lines 1-25. Johnson stated that minutes later, he saw AJ Wilson holding appellant down while Isaac Wilson was pointing a gun at appellant. Johnson stated that he fired his gun and that he then shot AJ Wilson five times and then shot Isaac Wilson two times. Reconstruction Hearing R. 801, l. 1-p. 819, l. 17.

At the close of the case, both counsels for appellant and co-defendant Johnson requested charges on self defense and aggravated assault and battery. R. 632, l. 21-p. 643, l. 7. The trial judge granted counsels' requests to charge the jury on the law of self defense, mutual combat, the defense of others, and aggravated assault and battery. Appellant was found not guilty of murder, but convicted of the assault and battery with intent to kill AJ Wilson. The trial judge's assault and battery with intent to kill charge follows:

In order to prove assault and battery with intent to kill, the State must prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant committed an unlawful act of a violent nature to the person of another with malice aforethought. The difference between assault and battery with intent to kill and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature is the presence or absence of malice. Malice, as I have previously defined to you, is ill will or hostility towards another person and the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse with the intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent.

R. 719, l. 21-p. 721, l. 15.

Malice is hatred, ill will, or hostility towards another person. [Malice] is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with the intent to inflict an injury or under certain circumstances that the law will implicate an evil intent. Malice aforethought may be expressed or inferred. Express malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hate or ill will. Malice may be indicated from conduct showing a disregard for human life. An implication of malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon. That implication is merely an evidentiary fact which may be taken into consideration along with any other evidence in this case.

R. 715, l. 2 – p. 716, l. 5.

At sentencing, appellant's counsel moved for a new trial due to error based on the trial judge's jury instruction that charged them that they "may infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon in a prosecution for murder and/or assault and battery with intent to kill" per the new rule in State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). Sentencing Hearing Transcript p. 747, l. 19-p. 749, l. 20. The motion was denied. Sentencing Hearing Transcript p.751, l. 5 – p.752, l. 4.

A.) **NEW RULE**

On October 12, 2009, the Belcher Court handed down a clear break from an historical instruction that the use of a deadly weapon implied malice and held that a jury charge that instructs the jury that malice maybe inferred from the use of a deadly weapon is no longer good law where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the homicide. The Belcher Court held further that because the crime of assault and battery requires malice, this new rule

would apply to that offense as well. The Court looked to the word “intent” as part of its analysis as follows:

The use of the term “intentional” is instructive. Say, for example, a homicide occurs by the use of a deadly weapon under circumstances warranting a self-defense instruction. The killing would be intentional, yet under our currently sanctioned charge, the jury would be permitted to find malice merely because “if one intentionally kills another with a deadly weapon, the implication of malice may arise.” *Elmore*, 279 S.C. at 421, 308 S.E.2d at 784. That highlights the “half-truth” nature of the charge.

One appellate court has described this jury charge as “half-truth.” *Glenn v. State*, 68 Md. App. 379, 511 A.2d 1110, 1126 (1986). In discussing its meaning behind this observation, *Glenn* notes that malice includes the absence of justification, excuse and mitigation. *Glenn*, 511 A.2d at 1122. When malice is viewed in light of these component parts, it becomes clear that inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon is indeed only a “half-truth.” The absence of justification, excuse or mitigation cannot be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon standing alone. Other facts and evidence (or the absence of other facts and evidence) are required for the fulfillment of these component parts.

See also *State v. Miller*, 725 S.E.2d 724 (2012), where the court held that since the jury was charged with voluntarily manslaughter, then there was evidence to reduce or mitigate murder (gun present), which in turn rendered the malice inference instruction improper.

Under *Belcher*, the test is whether there is evidence presented that would reduce, justify or mitigate the killing. In the case at bar, there were many pieces of evidence presented that would have reduced, justified or mitigated the actions assigned to appellant. Clearly, guns were in the hands of Isaac Wilson, AJ Wilson, Gadson and Johnson. There was no definite conclusion drawn as to whether appellant was in possession of a gun on the night in question. For example, Gadson testified that appellant was in possession of a rod/stick, but could not admit that he saw a gun in his (appellant’s) possession. R. 106, l. 7-20; R. 110, lines 2-9. AJ Wilson testified that he “imagined” that appellant had a gun, but that he did not see a gun. R. 156, lines 5-9; Then, AJ

testified that appellant shot him. R. 160, lines 5-13. However, since AJ testified that appellant shot him, it is possible that appellant reacted in self defense based on AJ Wilson's aggression as witnessed by Johnson. Johnson stated that AJ Wilson and Isaac Wilson held appellant at gun point. Reconstruction Hearing R. 808, l. 6 – p. 809, l. 11. Moreover, there was evidence in the record indicating that AJ Wilson's identification of the shooter was incorrect because Johnson testified that he shot AJ Wilson in defense of his brother, i.e. appellant. R. 809, l. 6 – p. 811, l.3. Note that Johnson's counsel admitted to the jury during the opening arguments that Johnson shot AJ Wilson. R. 22, lines 17-24. There was also evidence in the case that appellant may have reacted in defense of Johnson because when he exited the truck first, he saw all three men pointing guns at them. Resentencing Transcript 798, l. 25 – p. 799, l. 16. Furthermore, there was evidence presented suggesting that mutual combat was in progress on that night in question. Thus, under any scenario, evidence was presented that would have reduced, mitigated, excused or justified the assault and battery to kill charge, but the jury instruction regarding how to process the use of a deadly weapon prejudiced appellant if the jury inferred malice due to the use of a deadly weapon as this negated evidence of justification, excuse, or mitigation on the offense of assault and battery with intent to kill charged against appellant. And finally, it is completely conceivable that the jury might have interpreted the scenario to find that appellant was not guilty or only guilty of aggravated assault, but the inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon charge (in the event they found that appellant possessed a weapon) would have operated to confuse the jury and possibly precluded an acquittal of a jury verdict on aggravated assault.

B.) HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS OF NEW RULE

Error is harmless if could not have affected the result of the trial. State v. Mitchell, 378 SC 305, 662 S.E.2d 493 (2008). The Belcher Court held that since evidence of self-defense was

presented to the jury in the case, then the inferred malice instruction connected to the deadly weapon charge could not be considered harmless. See Miller, supra, where the court reversed due to the erroneous malice inferred instruction and found that the error was not harmless because there was evidence of involuntary manslaughter, which was charged, that could have reduced or mitigated the murder, and because there was no overwhelming evidence of malice in the case. Here, the inferred malice instruction connected to the deadly weapon charge was not harmless error because the same prejudiced appellant to the extent that it conflicted with self defense and the defense of others evidence that would have reduced, mitigated, excused or justified the assault and battery with intent to kill charge. This was a convoluted set of events that did not present clear cut or overwhelming evidence of malice apart from the use of a deadly weapon. We cannot conclude that the malice inferred instruction did not affect the jury verdict in appellant's case.