ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2009-147266

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

KERWIN S. PARKER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 07 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

Any issue with the trial judge's jury instructions was not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not contemporaneously object to the jury charge during trial and, instead, indicated he had no objection to the charge as given. Additionally, the trial judge properly instructed the jury on the current and correct law in effect at the time of Appellant's trial, and a subsequent change in the law after the jury issued its verdict was not applicable to Appellant's case because no objections to the jury charge were raised during trial. Furthermore, any error resulting from the trial judge instructing the jury it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon was entirely harmless in light of the jury's verdict, which reflected the jury did not believe the use of a deadly weapon alone mandated a finding of malice or precluded a finding that the defendants' actions were excused, justified, or mitigated by the circumstances.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in instructing the jury it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon. Appellant maintains the instruction was erroneous because evidence was presented that could have reduced, excused, mitigated, or justified his actions. Initially, any issue with the trial judge's jury charge was not preserved for appellate review because no objections to the jury charge were raised during trial. Instead, after the trial judge concluded his jury instructions, defense counsel specifically indicated he had no objection to the charge, which waived any issue with the propriety of the charge. Additionally, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon because that instruction was a current and correct statement of the law at the time of Appellant's trial, and subsequent changes to the law were not applicable to Appellant's case because no contemporaneous objection was raised to the inference of malice jury instruction during trial. Furthermore, even if the issue had been preserved, any error resulting from the trial judge instructing the jury it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon was entirely harmless and had no impact on Appellant's case because the jury's verdict demonstrated it did not mistakenly believe the use of a deadly weapon alone required a finding of malice or

precluded a finding that the defendant's actions were excused, justified, or mitigated by the circumstances. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

A. Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000).

Regarding the requirement that a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a **contemporaneous** objection to a perceived error **during trial** in order to preserve the issue for further review. State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 79, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) ("A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review."). Thus, when a perceived error arises, the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so or the issue is waived. State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993); see State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) ("A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review."); see also State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 157, n.1, 561 S.E.2d 640, 647 (Ct. App. 2002) ("[N]o objection was made contemporaneously with this testimony so as to preserve the issue for review. King's belated objection to subsequent testimony came

too late.”). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.” Bank of New York v. Sumter County, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010).

In addition to the general requirements of our issue preservation rules, the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure also provide specific guidance in regards to raising and preserving an objection to a jury charge. See Rule 20, SCRCrimP (outlining the requirements for requesting jury instructions and objecting to a jury charge). Pursuant to our criminal procedure rules, a defendant must object to the jury charge as given or request an additional charge when afforded the opportunity to do so in order to properly preserve an objection to a charge. State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985); see Rule 20(a), SCRCrimP (“All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.”); Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection.”). “The rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.” State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976); see Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”). “[T]he right to have the law declared may be waived by the parties and, ordinarily, silence in the face of an omission from, or error in the charge amounts to waiver.” Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43.

In the case sub judice, any issue with the propriety of the inference of malice jury instruction was not properly preserved for appellate review. Significantly, after the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law and explained that malice could potentially be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon, the trial judge inquired of counsel whether there were any objections to the jury charge as given, and counsel for Appellant responded: "None, Your Honor." Because defense counsel did not object to the inference of malice jury charge after it was given and, instead, indicated he had no objection to the charge, Appellant waived any issue he may have had with the giving of that instruction. See State v. Smith, 279 S.C. 440, 442, 308 S.E.2d 794, 794-795 (1983) ("Error is claimed by reason of the trial judge's charge to the jury concerning the implication of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. No objection to the jury instruction was raised at trial. The question therefore is not available for our review."); see also State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding any issue with the admission of a challenged piece of evidence was waived where Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had no objection when the evidence was introduced during trial); see, e.g., State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 613, 486 S.E.2d 762, 766 (Ct. App. 1997) ("This testimony was admitted without objection. Because Burton failed to object, he is barred from raising this issue on appeal.").

Thereafter, defense counsel first raised an objection to the inference of malice jury charge during a sentencing hearing conducted over a month **after** the jury returned its verdict and Appellant's trial had ended. Cf. Bowers v. Charleston & W. Carolina Ry. Co., 210 S.C. 367, 371, 42 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1947) (not reviewing an issue on appeal where the issue was not raised at the time the allegedly objectionable argument was made but, instead, was raised for the first time in a motion for new trial made **after** the jury

issued its verdict). However, because defense counsel's post-verdict and post-trial objection to the charge was not raised contemporaneously with the alleged error, the objection was untimely and, significantly, did not present the trial judge with any opportunity to effectively respond to the objection or correct the alleged deficiencies with his jury instructions since the trial had already concluded. See State v. Black, 319 S.C. 515, 521, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (Ct. App. 1995) ("It is a fundamental principle that a contemporaneous objection is required at trial to properly preserve an error for appellate review."); see also Williams, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43 ("The rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge."). As a result, Appellant failed to properly preserve any issue with the jury charge for appellate review. See State v. James, 362 S.C. 557, 562, 608 S.E.2d 455, 457 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding an untimely argument did not preserve an issue for appellate review).

On appeal, Appellant appears to contend his post-trial motion for a new trial was sufficient to preserve the challenge to the inference of malice jury charge because that motion was based on the new rule announced in State v. Belcher and his case was not final due to the fact he had not yet been sentenced at the time the issue was raised. However, as the Supreme Court instructed in the Belcher opinion, the new rule regarding the inference of malice jury charge only applies to cases "which are pending on direct review or not yet final **where the issue is preserved.**" State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009) (emphasis added). Because Appellant did not contemporaneously object to the giving of the inference of malice jury instruction, Appellant waived any issue he had with the instruction and failed to preserve it for

appellate review.¹¹ See State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”). Accordingly, in light of the fact Appellant’s challenge to the jury charge was not preserved, the decision in Belcher did not apply to Appellant’s case, and his appellate challenge to the charge should not be considered or addressed on appeal. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals[.]”). For the foregoing reasons, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.¹²

B. Propriety of the Trial Judge’s Jury Instructions

In instructing the jury on the applicable law, “[t]he trial court is required to charge the correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Rayfield, 357 S.C. 497, 505, 593 S.E.2d 486, 490 (Ct. App. 2004). A jury charge is appropriate if it is substantially correct and adequately covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479

¹¹ Notably, in State v. Miller, 397 S.C. 630, 636, 725 S.E.2d 724, 728 (Ct. App. 2012), this Court found the decision in Belcher to be applicable to Miller’s case despite the fact it was decided after Miller’s trial concluded because Miller’s appeal was pending on direct review when the Belcher decision was issued. However, Miller’s case is highly distinguishable from Appellant’s case because, unlike Appellant, Miller specifically objected to the inference of malice jury instruction during his trial, which preserved the issue for appellate review in his case. See Miller, 397 S.C. at 636, 725 S.E.2d at 727 (noting Miller objected to the presentation of an inference of malice charge during trial).

¹² During the sentencing hearing, defense counsel argued Appellant should be granted a new trial in light of the Belcher decision despite the fact he did not object to the jury charge during trial because he believed Appellant would be entitled to a new trial through an ineffective assistance of counsel claim if he was not granted a new trial at that time. (R. pp. 750-751). Significantly though, the Supreme Court specifically stated in its Belcher opinion that the change in law announced in that case was not applicable to convictions challenged on post-conviction relief. See Belcher, 385 S.C. at 613, 685 S.E.2d at 810 (“Our ruling, however, will not apply to convictions challenged on post-conviction relief.”). Furthermore, the Supreme Court has previously explained that counsel is not considered to be ineffective for failing to anticipate potential changes in the law. See State v. Harden, 260 S.C. 405, 408, 602 S.E.2d 48, 49 (2004) (“An attorney is not required to anticipate potential changes in the law which are not in existence at the time of the conviction.”). Therefore, defense counsel’s failure to foresee the change in the law regarding the inference of malice charge brought about by Belcher did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel and would not entitle Appellant to any post-conviction relief.

S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996). In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.").

At the time of Appellant's trial, it was entirely proper for trial judges in South Carolina to instruct juries that malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon. See Belcher, 385 S.C. at 600, 685 S.E.2d at 803 ("It has long been the practice for trial courts in South Carolina, **as sanctioned by this Court**, to charge juries in any murder prosecution that the jury may infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon." (emphasis added)); see also Sellers v. State, 362 S.C. 182, 188, 607 S.E.2d 82, 85 (2005) ("[M]alice may be implied if the defendant uses a deadly weapon."). However, subsequent to Appellant's trial but prior to the time Appellant was sentenced for his crimes, the Supreme Court revisited the issue of whether a trial judge should instruct the jury on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon through its decision in Belcher. During Belcher's trial, conflicting evidence was presented regarding the circumstances under which Belcher shot and killed the victim. Belcher, 385 S.C. at 601, 685 S.E.2d at 804. One view of the evidence suggested Belcher shot the victim without justification or excuse while another view of the evidence suggested Belcher shot the victim only after the victim confronted him with a gun without provocation. Id. The trial judge instructed the jury on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon over Belcher's objection, and Belcher was convicted of murder. Id. On appeal, Belcher contended the trial judge

erred in instructing the jury on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon in light of the fact the jury was also instructed on the law of self-defense. Id. The Supreme Court ultimately agreed, instructing:

[W]here evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify a homicide (or assault and battery with intent to kill) caused by the use of a deadly weapon, juries shall not be charged that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon. The permissive inference charge concerning the use of a deadly weapon remains a correct statement of the law where the only issue presented to the jury is whether the defendant has committed murder (or assault and battery with intent to kill).

Id. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810. Significantly though, the Supreme Court explained the new rule it announced through its decision would only be applicable to cases “pending on direct review or not yet final **where the issue [was] preserved.**” Id. at 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810 (emphasis added).

In Appellant’s case, the trial judge instructed the jury it was permitted to infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon, which was an accurate and proper statement of the law at that time. See State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998) (“Malice may be implied from the defendant’s use of a deadly weapon.”). Accordingly, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury in Appellant’s case. See Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004) (“[T]he trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.”). However, pursuant to the decision Belcher, the new rule precluding trial judges from instructing juries on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon under certain circumstances would have rendered the trial judge’s instruction erroneous and been applicable to Appellant’s case **if** the issue had been preserved during trial. Critically though, the issue was not preserved due to the fact Appellant did **not** contemporaneously object to the

inference of malice charge during his trial. For that reason, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury without objection that it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon, which was a current and correct statement of the applicable law at the time of Appellant's trial. See Ezell, 321 S.C. at 425, 468 S.E.2d at 681 ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

C. Harmlessness of Any Error

After an error is discovered, the appellate court must then determine whether the error was harmless. See State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) ("Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless."). Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). The harmlessness of an error generally depends on the materiality of the error in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) ("No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case."). An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008); see State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 285, 288 (1947) ("It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him."). When a review of the entire record establishes an error is

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court should not reverse a conviction. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003).

In the case at bar, even if erroneous, the trial judge's instruction to the jury that it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon was entirely harmless and had no impact on the ultimate outcome of Appellant's case based on the verdict returned by the jury. Despite the fact the jury was instructed it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon, its verdict reflected it was not misled to believe it could not find the existence of justification, excuse, or mitigation in a situation where a deadly weapon was used, which was the precise type of jury misunderstanding the Supreme Court's new rule in Belcher sought to avoid. See Belcher, 385 S.C. at 610, 685 S.E.2d at 808-809 (“[I]nferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon is indeed only a ‘half-truth.’ The absence of justification, excuse or mitigation cannot be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon standing alone. Other facts and evidence (or the absence of other facts and evidence) are required for the fulfillment of these component parts.”). Critically, even though the evidence presented showed Isaac's death and A.J.'s injuries resulted from the use of a deadly weapon, the jury demonstrated it found Appellant's co-defendant's actions did not involve malice and were mitigated under the circumstances by convicting Johnson of the lesser-included offenses of voluntary manslaughter and ABHAN. Cf. Nation v. State, 252 Ga. App. 620, 623-624, 556 S.E.2d 196, 200-201 (Ga. Ct. App. 2001) (finding any error that resulted from the giving of an erroneous jury charge was harmless and did not contribute to the verdict where the jury's verdict demonstrated it was not impacted by the erroneous charge). Thus, the inference of malice jury instruction did not confuse the jury in Appellant's case or mislead them to believe the use of a deadly weapon alone mandated a finding of malice. See State v. Chambers, 194 S.C.

197, 203, 9 S.E.2d 549, 552 (1940) (finding any error resulting from the trial judge's jury instructions on malice was harmless where the jury convicted the defendants of lesser-included offenses of the offense of ABWIK and, thus, did not find the defendants acted with malice). As a result, any error that could have resulted from the giving of that instruction was entirely harmless and did not impact the verdict in Appellant's case. See Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 484 ("Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.